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Alamance County Courthouse (1924) / Montgomery County Courthouse (1921) %
Alleghany County Courthouse (1933) 7 Moore County Courthouse (1922-23),
s S e Nash County Courthouse (1921)..
Ashe County Courthouse (1904) ~ " Pender County Courthouse (1936)
Avery County Courthouse (1912) ~ Perquimans County Courthouse (1824),,
Bertie County Courthouse (1899) ¢ Person Countv Courthouse (1930) -
Brunswick County Courthouse (1844) « Pitt County Courthouse (1910) 7>
Buncombe County Courthouse (1927-28) "~ Randolph County Courthouse (1909): -
Caldwell County Courthouse (1904, 1929) Rockingham County Courthouse (1907)%
Catawba County Courthouse (1924) - Richmond County Courthouse (1922-23)
Chatham County Courthouse (1881) . Rutherford County Courthouse (1925-26)
Cherokee County Courthouse (1926=27) Stokes County Courthouse (1904)
Cleveland County Courthouse (1905) - Surry County Courthouse (1916)
Columbus County Courthouse (1914-15) ' Swain County Courthouse (1908) ~
Cumberland County Courthouse (1924) ~ Transylvania Co. Courthouse (1873)
Currituck County Courthouse (pre-1869, 1897) Tyrrell County Courthouse (1903)
Davie County Courthouse (1909) - Vance County Courthouse (1884,1908)
Gaston County Courthouse (1910) ;- ~ Washington Co. Courthouse (1918-1919)
Granville County Courthouse (1839) -~ ddokA Wayne County-Courthouse ———__ (1913)
Greene County Courthouse (1935) - Wilkes County Courthouse (1902)
Guilford County Courthouse (1920) = Wilson County Courthouse (1924~25)
Halifax County Courthouse (1909) . Yancey County Courthouse (1908)VX
Haywood County Courthouse (1932)
Henderson County Courthouse (1904) .
Hoke County Courthouse (1911) =~
Hyde County Courthouse (late 1850s)
Iredell County Courthouse (1899)
Jackson County Courthouse (1914) .~
Johnston County Courthouse (1921)
Lee County Courthouse (1907) =~
Lenoir County Courthouse (1939) .«
Lincoln County Courthouse (1921~-23) **
Madison County Courthouse (1207) -
Martin County Courthouse (1885) -
McDowell County Courthouse (1922=-23)
Mecklenburg County Courthouse (1926)

Mitchell County Courthouse (1907) =
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The county courthouse in North Carolina is perhaps the most significant single
governmental building; throughout most of the state's history, North Carolina has been
an overwhelmingly rural place, where the county, not the town,is a dominant center of
power and law. The county seat town is nearly always the major town, with its focus

the courthouse,
the courthouse is without peer in North Carolina.

As a symbolic force and a functional center for community activity,
The architecture of county courthouses

reflects this importance, and in all but a few urban counties, the courthouse is often
the grandest, most architectonic, and largest building from the county's history.

Centrally located, often distinguished by a cupola or dome

and imposing portico, the

courthouse expressed in forceful terms its pivotal role in the community. Viewed as a
group, the courthouses of North Carolina from the pre~Revolutionary period to the 1930s
display remarkable continuity; the significance of each is enhanced by its context in
the group as a whole. Throughout the entire group runs a unifying thread of classicism,
restraint, and dignity appropriate to the role of the courthouse as a "temple of justice.'
This character undergoes various permutations from period to period, region to region,
anq architect to architéct, creating identifiable clusters of related buildings. The
temple-form buildings of the mid-nineteenth century for example, such as the already-
nominated Northampton and Orange County courthouses were the most literal versions of
this concept. In the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, certain architects
enjoyed the favors of county building committees and produced notable bodies of work.
The B. F. Smith Fireproef Building Company worked in an unpretentiously picturesque
Italianate mode; the firm of Milburn and Heister of Washington, D.C. worked for decades
in an increasingly sophisticated Beaux—Arts Neo-Classical vocabulary; Greensboro
architect Harry Barton worked in a suave Beaux—=Arts character; and Wheeler and various
associlates of Charlotte produced a number of distinctive Neo-Classical courthouses in
western counties. In the 1930s, classicism continued in the tradition-based Neo-

Each of the courthouses nominated is
significant architecturally and historically in its own right; beyond this, as recognized
in the nomination of the entire group of North Carolina courthouses eligible for the
National Register, these buildings are a totality of great architectural, symbolic, and

Colonial mode and in a modernized version as well.

historical importance to the state.

Criteria assessment: (A) The courthouse in each county has been associated for however
long it has stood with the broad patterns of county life, as
the center of the local county political process, the
administration of justice, and a social and cultural focal
point. On a statewide basis, the courthouses have been the
subsidiary outlets of political processes and the law.
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The courthouses are associated with the political leaders and outstanding
as well as undistinguished lawyers, judges, county officials of each county.
Typically, when important people visit the county they visit the courthouse.
Most courthouses were designed by well-known architects or builders of the
period. Specific information on inventory sheets.

The courthouse nearly always represents the most ambitious architectural
undertaking of its period and place, and in sequence represent the conservative
interpretations of the successive styles popular in the nation and region,

thus embodying distinctive characteristics of types, periods, and methods of
construction.

In addition, the courthouses individually vary from having great architectural
merit and historical significance to being relatively undistinguished. However,
they do as a group ''represent a significant and distinguishable entity," as
vital in their totality to the architectural and political history of the state.



Form No. 10-300a

{Rev 10-74)
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
‘ RECEIVED
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM DATE ENTERED

CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER 8 PAGE 1

Almost from the time of its inception, the county has functioned as the chief unit
of local government in North Carolina, and the county courthouse has been the physical
and symbolic embodiment of local govermment and justice. 1In 1663 King Charles II of
England granted to eight lords proprietors a portion of land which included what is now
the state of North Carolina. In 1669 these men adopted the Fundamental Constitutions
prepared by the philosopher John Locke which established a plan for the government of
the provice. Although the Fundamental Constitutions were not a success in proprietary
North Carolina, they did provide the basis for the later county court system by creating
precinct courts which were responsible for the judicial and governmental functions of
precincts throughout the colony. Under the precinct system there were no courthouses
for many years. Rather the courts usually met in a private home, often in the home of
a litigant. Then in 1722, the colonial assembly passed an act that established the
precinct courts at definite places and authorized the justices of each precinct to
purchase an acre of land and build a courthouse.

In 1728 seven of the eight lords proprietors sold their interests in North Carolina
to the king, but local government still remained in the hands of precinct officials. In
1738, however, the assembly passed an act, by which the precincts became counties and
the precinct courts became county courts.

From Colonial times until 1868, the main power of county government rested with the
justices of the county courts. As one authority on county govermment has pointed out,
"when sitting as a county court the justices not only exercised judicial functions, but
performed the services now performed by the board of county commissioners, and, in
addition, certain duties which grew out of the conditions of the time." Among the duties
assumed by the justices was the responsibility for insuring the construction and main-
tenance of public buildings, mainly jails and courthouses. The new state constitution
of 1868 created a new plan for county government known as the township and County '
Commissioner Plan. Under this scheme the governmental and administrative powers and
duties which had been the function of the county court then passed to a board of five
county commissioners who were elected by the voters of the county. Thus the responsi-
bility for building and maintaining courthouses azd jails was transferred to the county
commissioners who still bear that responsibility.

Early courthouses in North Carolina were usually small buildings which contained a
courthouse, jury room, and sometimes the jail. As the responsibilities and population
of the counties increased, the buildings were enlarged to include the offices of
administrative officials and to provide storage for the increasing volume of county
records.

The location of the county seat has always been a major consideration among county
inhabitants. For the most part, the county seats have been located near the geographical
center of the county and usually near an important road crossing.
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Courthouses have not, however, always been located in a county's largest town. This
may have been because the change in transportation systems (such as the transition to
railroads) or economic conditions drew trade to rival towns. Also the type of people
who attached themselves to county seats, lawyers, politicians, officeholders, and ex-
officeholders--some of whom drew their sustenance from the public purse and were not
interested in industrial development-—frequently were not devoted to the physical and
economic growth of a community. But in most cases, towns have sought the establishment
of the county seat as a way of increasing prosperity and drawing trade and recognition.
Rivalries have often developed between towns seeking to have the county choose their
location as the site for a courthouse. In the early twentieth century, in fact, the
merchants and leaders of a few towns made sizeable financial contributions.to the
building of courthouses in order to have them placed in their communities.

Today it is left to the discretion of the county commissioners as to whether an
existing building should be repaired or a new one built, but they frequently accept the
advice of an architect. They are subject to indictment by the county grand jury if they
fail to insure the existence of a courthouse that is sufficient for conducting the
business of the county. The commissioners also decide what the cost and dimensions of
a new structure may be, and they are empowered to raise taxes in order to finance its
construction. But the state legislature may prescribe the limits of expenditure or
impose other specifications or rest¥ictions, and the commissioners must abide by these

instructions.

In order to encourage the construction of new and better courthouses the legislature
in 1923 passed a supplementary act authorizing county commissioners '"to issue bonds or
notes for the purpose of borrowing money with which to erect, build, construct, alter,
and repair and improve courthogses and jails, and to purchase the necessary equipment and
furniture to be sued therein." This stimulated courthouse construction, as witnessed
in the many built in the 1920s. Since that time many counties have used this means to
finance new courthouses, and presently they may also apply for federal aid in construction

Throughout North Carolina's history the county courthouse has been more than a seat
for dispensing local justice. Traditionally it has housed the records of the citizens
and the offices of the agencies which carry out the day-to-day duties of running the
county. In the past it has also been a gathering place for social functions, political
meetings, and a place to come in time of an emergency. It has stood for many years as
a symbol of local government, an institution which, according to some authorities, is
vital to the welfare of a state's inhabitants. As one authority, Paul Woodford Wager,
has written, ''there ought to be some unit of local government small enough to permit
acquaintance among the citizens.'" He further points out that "in naming the counties
and county seats, the state has honored many of its 'favorite sons'' and "to read the 7
list of counties is to read the names of the men in North Carolina's Hall of Fame. . . ."
For these reasons the residents of North Carolina have always identified with the county
courthouse both as a part of their everyday lives and a symbol of their heritage.
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Footnotes

1McCain, Paul M., "The County Court in North Carolina Before 1750,'" Historical
Papers of the Trinity College Historical Society, Vol. 31 (Durham: Duke University
Press, 1954), p. 38.

2Price, "The Central Courthouse Square," p. 31.

3Paul Woodford Wager, County Government and Administration in North Carolina (Chapel
Hill: The University of North Carolina Press, 1928), pp. 2-4.

4Wager, County Government and Administration, p. 7.

5Wager, County Government and Administration, p. 42.

6Public Laws of North Carolina, 1923, c. 143.

7Wager, County Government and Administration, pp. 40-41.
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MARTIN COUNTY COURTHOUSE

Historical Sketch

The first Martin County Courthouse was erected in 1775 near what is
now the town of Williamston. One local legend claims that the building
was constructed on stilts over the nearby Roanoke River, and court patrons
entered it from boats by way of ladders which were pulled up when court was
in session, permitting no one to leave.

3
In 1831 one of Martin County®’s most renowned citizens, Asa Biggs,
practiced law in the courthouse. Biggs went on to serve in both houses of
the North Carolina General Assembly and in the United States Congress. He
was appointed United States District Court Judge in 1858 and Confederate
District Court Judge during the Civil War.

In 145 the first Martin County Courthouse had fallen into such dis-
repair that county citizens replaced it with a second wooden building. This
structure burned in 1884, and evidently the second floor of S. R. Biggs'
drug store served as the courthouse until a new building could be completed.
In July, 1885, "fifty thousand bricks for building the Court House had been

delivered" in Williamston.

The new building cost $17,500 and was completed in 1887. It contained
floors and stairways of wood and interior walls of plaster over lath. On
the second floor was the courtroom with enough space to accommodate 500
people, a jury room, and four consultation rooms.

Architectural Description

The Martin County Courthouse, built in 1885, is an excellent example of
the eclectic and romantic nature of architecture in the nineteenth century.
Italianate, Medieval, and late Victorian elements are combined in an unex-
pected manner to produce a castle-like building which is unique among North
Carolina's courthouses. In danger of demolition, the Martin County Courthouse
has been placed on the study list of the Division of Archives and History
and its nomination to the National Register of Historic Places is being

prepared.

l"Williamston and Martin County, " The State, XV, April 3, 1948, p. 21.

2 .

F. S. Spruill, address at the presentation of portrait of Honorable
Asa Biggs to United States District Court, Raleigh, N.C., January 18, 1915,
H. G. Conner Collection, North Carolina Collection, University of North

Carolina, Chapel Hill.

3Olds, Story of the Counties, p. 42; H. G. Jones, For History's Sake,
p. 120; "Industrial and Agricultural Development of Martin County," The State,
XI (December 25, 1943), p. 16; Tarboro Southerner, July 9, 1885,

4Crittenden and Lacy, eds., Historical Records, II, p. 445; News and
Observer (Raleigh), June 27, 1909.




Martin County Courthouse 2

Situated at the end of the commercial district and bordering the resi-
dential area on Williamston's main street, the courthouse is a two-story
brick structure set with its narrow and toward the street. Two and three-
story jail additions to the rear are incompatible with the character and
quality of the main block. The Italianate influence of the building is
reflected in the use of segmental arched windows with crosseted brick sur-
rounds and in the three-story square tower which projects slightly from the
center of the front elevation. It is pierced with single, double, and
triple round arch openings which diminish in size upward. Pilasters separate
the windows on the side elevations and a string course divides the second
story from the plain wide frieze which ends in a corbelled brick cornice.
The entrance pavilion is recessed behind the single large round arch opening
in the first story of the tower.

On the first floor, a foyer narrows into a hall which is flanked by
offices and runs the length of the building. Curved stairs with shaped
rails, turned balusters, and heavy newel, rise from each side of the foyer
to small landings which open into the large high ceilinged courtroom.

Turned balusters between heavily turned newels topped with acorn-
shaped knobs separate the court officials and jury box from the raked
spectator seating. The Italianate judge's bench, set on a dais decorated
with lozenge moldings, has applied sawnwork, lattice moldings, and heavy
brackets. A door at the rear of the pointed arch alcove behind the bench
leads to a robing room while doors flanking it open into a small jury room
and judge's chamber. Tongue-in-groove knotty pine paneling, installed
throughout the building, is inappropriate to the courthouse's Victorian

character. ‘

Address: John L. House, Chairman, Martin County Commissioners, Martin
County Courthouse, Williamston, N.C. 27892
Acreage: Less than one acre

UTM Reference: Latitude: 35051'54" Longitude: 77°03'10"
Verbal boundary description: The courthouse is bounded to the north by Main

Street, to the east by parking, to the south by parking, and to
the west by the county agriculture building.
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